**FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
5/17/2018 3:07 PM**

No. 95865-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 48987-2-II

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION TWO
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of

TODD T. HARDIN
Respondent

and

KAREN E. LOFGREN
Appellant

PETITION FOR REVIEW

PATRICIA NOVOTNY
ZARAGOZA NOVOTNY PLLC
3418 NE 65th Street, Suite A
Seattle, WA 98115
(206) 525-0711

Attorneys for Petitioner

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Karen Lofgren, Respondent below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review. See Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner Karen Lofgren, seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision entered on April 17, 2018, by which the court affirmed a parenting plan denying Lofgren all contact with her two children. A copy of the decision is attached.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is a parent entitled to a full and fair trial on parenting issues at which it is presumed she and her children should have an ongoing relationship?

2. Are incarcerated parents entitled to equal treatment in proceedings under Washington's Parenting Act?

3. May the court delegate to the children's father the authority to determine whether the children will have contact with their mother?

4. Was Lofgren denied a full and fair trial?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Lofgren and Hardin have two daughters, now aged 11 and 14. Their marriage was marred by domestic strife, including, according to Lofgren, domestic violence perpetrated on her by Hardin. They separated

and reconciled, then separated again and initiated dissolution proceedings. Under temporary orders, the children resided primarily with Lofgren.

During the pendency of those proceedings, Lofgren was charged with second degree solicitation to commit murder, Hardin being the intended victim. She pleaded guilty and was sentenced at the top of the standard range (165 months), despite this being a first offense and her otherwise exemplary history. The sentencing judge also prohibited all contact between Lofgren and her children for life, a provision ultimately reversed on appeal because restrictions on a parent's rights must be crime-related and narrowly drawn. CP 391-401. Division Two acknowledged the inquiry into the children's best interests could not be short-circuited by the criminal conviction, since the latter does not abridge the fundamental constitutional right to the care, custody, and companionship of one's children. CP 391-401; *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 34, 195 P.3d 940 (2008), *cert. denied*, 556 U.S. 1192 (2009). By "narrowly drawn," our law means "[t]here must be no reasonable alternative way to achieve the State's interest." *Id.*, at 34-35. Accordingly, Division Two ruled the "matter and manner of contact between the children and Lofgren" was to be resolved by the family court in the dissolution proceeding. CP 400.

However, more than a year before the criminal appeal was decided, the parties dissolved the marriage by agreed orders. Citing to the criminal

sentence, the parenting plan provided for no contact between Lofgren and her children. CP 4. The plan also provided the contact provisions may be reviewed if the criminal no contact orders were terminated. Id. When the criminal appeal mandate issued, Lofgren petitioned for modification. CP 37-41.

Hardin opposed adequate cause. The court granted adequate cause, but limited the scope of Lofgren's potential relief to "what, if any, contact there should be between mother and children," giving preclusive effect to the original parenting plan. The court also predicted "there may be a grave risk of psychological harm to [the] children from Ms. Lofgren." CP 90. Finally, the court reappointed the guardian ad litem from the original proceeding, who Lofgren had challenged for bias before the criminal incident occurred.

In preparation for trial, Lofgren engaged the services of an expert referred by Northwest Justice Project to testify on the welfare of children in reaction to trauma, interviewing techniques pertinent to children, and visitation plans designed to maintain family bonds while protecting the children. CP 182-193. On the eve of trial, this witness became unexpectedly unavailable because of a personal emergency. The court denied Lofgren the continuance she requested to allow her to obtain a new

expert on the grounds there were no “extraordinary circumstances” to justify a continuance.

Ultimately, in a decision remarkable for its lack of clarity with respect to the controlling legal standards, the court arrived at the destination it identified at commencement: Lofgren would be permitted no contact with her children unless they tell Hardin they want contact.

On appeal, Lofgren challenged the court’s decision on constitutional, procedural, and substantive grounds. Rather than address these challenges on their merits, Division Two rejected the majority of the issues as procedurally defective, e.g., claiming the issues were not supported by authority or record citation or were not preserved when, as the briefs make evident, they were. As elaborated upon below, the issues as addressed on the merits were erroneously decided by the trial court. In short, Lofgren has been denied the trial all parents are guaranteed by the constitutions of Washington and the United States and by Washington’s Parenting Act. Not only has the court infringed upon her rights, it has ignored the children’s interests in an ongoing relationship with their mother, a value embraced by our policy without categorical exceptions, including the fact of a parent’s incarceration. Accordingly, Lofgren seeks review in this Court.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

As is widely known, the United States leads the world in rates of incarceration, including when compared to countries with similar legal systems. This matters here because of how this fact and the bias against incarcerated people affect families, including through applications of state family laws.

1. FOR CONSTITUTIONAL AND POLICY REASONS, PARENTS ARE ENTITLED TO A TRIAL UNDER THE PARENTING ACT WHERE IT IS PRESUMED AN ONGOING RELATIONSHIP WITH THEIR CHILDREN SERVES THE CHILDREN'S BEST INTERESTS.

Parents enter into agreed custody orders with respect to their children under circumstances they hope are temporary. For example, a parent battling addiction may enlist family members to care for a child while the parent undergoes rehabilitation. In such cases, the Court of Appeals has permitted modification of those custody orders to allow for a full adjudication of nonparental custody, that is, a trial where the parent is presumed fit. *See, e.g., In re Custody of Z.C.*, 191 Wn. App. 674, 708, 366 P.3d 439, 449 (2015), as amended (Dec. 17, 2015) (modification of stipulated custody decree meant new trial with parental fitness presumed). In other words, the agreed custody order does not preclude a fully contested hearing on the merits of nonparental custody.

This principle applies with equal force to actions between parents, in which context this Court has long endorsed the proposition that the court best fulfills its duty to protect the welfare of children by means of a full evidentiary hearing. *In re Rankin*, 76 Wn.2d 533, 537, 458 P.2d 176 (1969) (and cases cited therein). The procedural corollary to this policy is that parenting plans have preclusive effect only if entered after a contested hearing and the court's independent evaluation of the pertinent statutory factors. *Id.*; *see, also, Pippins v. Jankelson*, 110 Wn.2d 475, 754 P.2d 105 (1988) (stipulated child support order). After all, the court's primary concern is for the child's welfare, a concern that must be addressed by an independent inquiry into the now contested facts.

Not only does the court by means of a full and fair adjudication fulfill its duty to children, it protects the parent's fundamental parental rights. *In re Custody of T.L.*, 165 Wn. App. 268, 268 P.3d 963 (2011). Yet, in this case, the court evaded this duty, substituting for a full and fair adjudication a truncated proceeding with a foregone conclusion. In affirming the trial court, Division Two ignored Lofgren's arguments and authority and ignored the controlling authority of this Court and published decisions of the Court of Appeals, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). This case presents an opportunity to affirm the principle described above, that a parenting plan which is the result of an

uncontested proceeding should not bar a full inquiry by the court into the children's best interests, by which means the court protects those interests and the parent's constitutional rights. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Here, Lofgren's criminal conviction tells an aspect of this family's story, one especially pertinent to the relationship between the adults. It does not tell the full story – the story needed to determine the future of the children's relationship with their mother. This Court made clear in *Warren, supra*, how the family court must address distinctly different interests from those addressed by the criminal law, including by narrowly tailoring infringements on a parent's constitutional right. Indeed, only by resort to the mechanisms of our family laws, and its family-protective standards, are the purposes of those laws fulfilled. *See In re C.M.F.*, 179 Wn.2d 411, 314 P.3d 1109 (2013) (Fairhurst, J., dissenting) (interpretation of family laws guided by the primary concern of the child's welfare).

In the proceedings below, the court evaded the inquiry our family law requires: one predicated on the presumption that the parent-child bond should be maintained.

2. OUR STATE'S POLICY FAVORING REUNIFICATION OF FAMILIES SHOULD APPLY IN ALL PARENTING ACTIONS.

Washington values and protects family relationships. In the Parenting Act, for example, the legislature expressly "recognizes the

fundamental importance of the parent-child relationship to the welfare of the child.” RCW 26.09.002. Courts may interfere with that relationship only if necessary “to protect the child from physical, mental, or emotional harm.” *Id.* A criminal conviction is not, *per se*, reason to sunder the relationship. *Warren*, 165 Wn.2d at 34.

In proceedings where the state intervenes on behalf of children, its “paramount goal ... is to reunite the child with his or her legal parents, if reasonably possible.” *In re Dependency of J.H.*, 117 Wn.2d 460, 476, 815 P.2d 1380 (1991). Not a hint of this goal can be detected in any of the proceedings in this case. Despite that Lofgren was indisputably a loving parent whose relationship with her daughters was close and nurturing, and despite a separation prolonged by an unlawful sentencing order, the trial court found as a basis for continued separation the impairment of the parent-child bond arising from the separation. By contrast, in the dependency context, incarceration expressly does not “in and of itself constitute failure to have contact with the child.” RCW 13.34.180(1)(e)(3). In any case, the existence of limitations does not alone determine what limitations are appropriate. See Br. Appellant, at 33-34 and Reply Br. Appellant, at 10-14. Yet the court here acted as if that was the end of the inquiry.

Our law's solicitude for the bond between parent and children arises not only from our understanding of the importance of that bond for the children, but from constitutional underpinnings. However wrong Lofgren's criminal conduct, we know her love for her children and their love and need for her must be presumed to be intact.

For this reason, the policy of reunifying children with their parents should apply in all parenting actions, not just dependencies and terminations, or else the court runs afoul of parental liberty interests and the equality guarantees in our state and federal constitutions. U.S. Const., amend. 14; Const. art. 1, § 12. The decisions here, by the trial court and by Division Two, violate these policies, principles, and constitutional protections and merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). The fundamental importance of family is not diminished *per se* where a parent is incarcerated, yet, incarcerated parents are not treated equally under our family law. Given the rights and the numbers of people affected, this issue is constitutional in magnitude and of substantial public interest.

3. THE COURT EFFECTIVELY TERMINATED THE MOTHER'S PARENTAL RIGHTS BY DELEGATING TO THE FATHER AUTHORITY OVER WHETHER THE CHILDREN WOULD HAVE CONTACT WITH THE MOTHER.

At times, a parenting plan may contemplate the ongoing involvement of a neutral party, usually a professional, to facilitate aspects

of the plan, most commonly, dispute resolution. Occasionally, a trial court goes too far and delegates authority only the trial court may wield. For example, only the trial court may order what residential schedule the parties are to follow. Accordingly, it is error for the court to order a guardian ad litem to control the schedule, as happened in *In re Parentage of Schroeder*, 106 Wn. App. 343, 353, 22 P.3d 1280, 1285 (2001); *accord In re Smith-Bartlett*, 95 Wn. App. 633, 640, 976 P.2d 173, 178 (1999) (cannot delegate to arbitrator authority to modify parenting plan). Even where the court permits a neutral to act in a temporary fashion, the parties must have a right of review by the trial court. *Kirshenbaum v. Kirshenbaum*, 84 Wn. App. 798, 807, 929 P.2d 1204, 1208 (1997).

Obviously, this principle gathers more force when the court seeks to delegate to one parent control over contact with the other parent, as happened here. *In re Marriage of Coy*, 160 Wn. App. 797, 806, 248 P.3d 1101, 1106 (2011). A parent of a child simply “cannot make an independent, *objective* judgment about what is in the best interests of that child, especially with regard to an ex-spouse's parental rights regarding that child.” *Id.*

Despite the obvious conflict of interest inherent in such an arrangement, the trial court here left to the father the ultimate control over whether the children may ever see their mother. They must express to him

such a desire and he must be trusted to honor it. There is no reason to expect such a mechanism to operate reliably. It puts the children in precisely the worst imaginable position. These children may well wish to see their mother but they may also feel it impossible to express such a desire to their father. And it is impossible to imagine the father, vehemently opposed to any contact between the children and their mother, to facilitate such contact. Finally, Division Two's claim the mother has contempt as a remedy under these circumstances beggars credulity. In any case, the provision itself cannot stand since it lacks a review mechanism, as our precedent requires.

Because Division Two permits precisely the kind of of delegation other appellate courts have ruled improper, this issue merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). Moreover, because this delegation directly undermines Lofgren's constitutional rights as a parent and strikes right at the heart of our family-protective policies, this issue merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and as a matter of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

4. AT EVERY TURN, THE COURT IGNORED RULES AND PROCEDURES PROTECTIVE OF THE RIGHT TO A FAIR AND FULL INQUIRY INTO THE CHILDREN'S BEST INTERESTS.

Because it is implied, rather than implicit, trial courts frequently misunderstand the primacy of their duty to determine independently whether a parenting plan serves the best interests of the children whose lives the plan affects. *See King v. King*, 162 Wn.2d 378, 416, 174 P.3d 659, 678 (2007) (Madsen, J., dissenting) (trial court must approve even agreed parenting plans, citing RCW 26.09.002, RCW 26.09.181, RCW 26.09.184, RCW 26.09.187).

In other words, by contrast to other adversarial proceedings, the court in a parenting trial has an independent duty to non-parties: the children. To fulfill this duty, the court must be particularly concerned for the adequacy and quality of the evidence. For example, where appropriate, "trial courts should rely on expert opinion to help reach an objective, rather than subjective, evaluation of the issue." *In re Marriage of Woffinden*, 33 Wn. App. 326, 330 n.3, 654 P.2d 1219 (1982), *review denied*, 99 Wn.2d 1001 (1983). Similarly, courts should not exclude evidence necessary to the best interests inquiry as a sanction for a party's failure to comply with a court order. *Bay v. Jensen*, 147 Wn. App. 641, 657, 196 P.3d 753 (2008); *see, also, In re Waggener's Marriage*, 13 Wn.

App. 911, 915-16, 538 P.2d 845, 848 (1975) (where children’s welfare concerned, court may have duty to cure deficiencies in the evidence). Simply, in family law cases, to ensure the best decision, a trial court should inform itself as fully as possible of the circumstances of the family before it.

Here, the trial court did just the opposite. It went out of its way (i.e., ignoring the statutory mechanism) to appoint a guardian ad litem the mother previously had challenged for bias. *See In re Marriage of Black*, 188 Wn.2d 114, 133-135, 806, 392 P.3d 1141, 1106 (2017) (discussing bias of guardian ad litem who is “unlike a typical witness” and whose bias found its way into trial court’s decision).¹ Here, the guardian ad litem, in her performance, demonstrates cause for Lofgren’s objections. See Br. Appellant, at 9-10, 40-43. Yet the court’s order hews closely to her recommendations.

The court also went out of its way to prevent Lofgren from testing the guardian ad litem’s report and recommendations and otherwise to avoid informing itself on the relevant facts when it denied Lofgren a continuance when her expert witness became unavailable. The witness, eminently qualified and equipped to address the circumstances of this

¹ Statute requires appointment from a registry in every instance save for “exceptional circumstances.” RCW 26.12.177(2)(a).

family, suffered an emergency threatening to the life of a family member requiring her to leave the state and completely suspend her work. Yet the court denied the continuance, a decision at odds with the pertinent rules and even the standards for excluding witnesses. See Br. Appellant, at 14-15, 35-40.²

Division Two dismisses the significance of this error, claiming Lofgren could have submitted the expert's report, though ER 901 plainly requires the expert's presence for that purpose.³ The trial court was left with the guardian ad litem's opinion of the report, despite the fact the witness was engaged partly to critique the work of the guardian ad litem.⁴

If it is true, as argued above, that in a trial on parenting the court should be particularly eager for information, how to explain this court's persistent rejection of the kind of objective and expert information that could have been provided by a neutral guardian ad litem and an expert witness? Lofgren's incarceration only heightened the need for this kind of evidence, contrary to the conclusion reached below.

² Division Two claims the expert could have testified by telephone, but the expert, experiencing what she described as "devastation," explained she was "no longer available to provide any services in this case including being able to testify at trial." CP 188.

³ Division Two declined to review these arguments as being advanced without argument or authority, though both are provided at Br. Appellant, at 35-37.

⁴ The expert also would have testified to the welfare of children under circumstances similar to those in this case, in which purpose, along with critiquing the guardian ad litem, Division Two saw no relevance.

This Court should take review of these issues to clarify the court's duty in the particular context of family law proceedings, consistent with those appellate court decisions ignored in this case by Division Two. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Moreover, because the proper exercise of this duty affects families every single day as they bring to the courts the most personal and consequential of disputes, this Court should take review of these issues as a matter of substantial public interest, articulating clearly the importance of impartial and informed witnesses to the assessment of the children's best interests in contesting parenting proceedings, particularly as those proceedings often can be affected by bias and subjectivity.

F. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Lofgren respectfully requests this Court take review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and remand this case for a trial consistent with the Washington Parenting Act, our state policy favoring family reunification, and constitutional rights related to the family.