FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/15/2018 9:06 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95865-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TODD HARDIN, Respondent,

٧.

KAREN E. LOFGREN, Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrew Helland Attorney for Respondent

WSBA #43181 Helland Law Group, PLLC 960 Market Street Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 572-2684

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals properly affirm that any presumption in favor of contact between Karen and her children had been rebutted?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals properly determine that Karen received equal treatment?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals properly determine that the trial court did not improperly delegate its authority to modify a parenting plan to Todd?
- 4. Did the Court of Appeals properly determine that Karen received a full and fair trial?

¹ For ease of reference, the Petitioner will be referred to herein as Karen, and the Respondent will be referred to herein as Todd. No disrespect whatsoever is intended thereby.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 24, 2013 Karen and Todd, both being represented by counsel, entered into an agreed final parenting plan for their two minor children. CP 1-7, 01/11/16 VRP 48-49. The final parenting plan contained RCW 26.09.191 restrictions against Karen for a history of domestic violence and abusive use of conflict. CP 2.

The restrictions in the final parenting plan against Karen were the result of her guilty plea for the crime of solicitation to commit murder of her then husband Todd. CP 14. The agreed final parenting plan prohibited Karen from having any contact with her children in part due to a criminal no contact order. CP 4. The final parenting plan provided:

"ONLY the provisions regarding the respondent/mother's contact with the children may be reviewed if the provisions of the no contact orders regarding the children entered under cause no 12-1-00662-0 on 1/25/2013 are terminated." CP 4.

In September 2014 the court ultimately vacated the criminal no contact order that prohibited Karen from having contact with her children. CP 59. Karen waited until December 15, 2014 to file a petition for modification of the final parenting plan based upon the no contact order being vacated. CP 37.

On January 15, 2015 the court granted Karen's motion to establish adequate cause for her petition for modification. CP 83.

Todd timely moved to revise the court commissioner's ruling. CP 84-86. The trial judge revised the commissioner's ruling only by limiting the scope of inquiry to be what, if any, contact there should be between Karen and her children. CP 89-91. In addition, the trial court re-appointed the original Guardian ad Litem (GAL), Frances Kevetter, due to her familiarity with "both the file and children." CP 90. Karen sought reconsideration of the trial court's ruling. CP 92. The trial court denied Karen's motion for reconsideration. CP 118. Karen then sought discretionary review by the Court of Appeals. CP 132-142.

On January 8, 2016 Karen sought a continuance of the trial date due to her expert being unavailable to testify at time of trial. CP 182-184. The court found that there were not extraordinary circumstances to warrant a continuance of the trial and as such denied the motion. CP 195. The trial court did allow Karen's expert to testify via any electronic means. CP 197; 01/08/16 VRP 17.

The matter proceeded the trial on January 11, 2016. The Guardian ad Litem testified that she could not find any evidence that the mother does not pose a "great risk of psychological harm to the children." 01/12/16 VRP 195. The Guardian ad Litem further testified that the children were thriving with the father and that she recommends that the mother have no contact with the children until the children have a desire to contact Karen. 01/12/16 VRP 171; Exhibit 3.

Karen testified during trial that her actions harmed the children:

Q: Aren't your children psychologically harmed by you and your desire and plan to kill their father?

A: I have no doubt that my children are psychologically harmed by my actions, yes. 01/11/16 VRP 76

Karen offered no expert testimony or other testimony supporting her belief that contact between her and the children is in the children's best interest.

At the time of the trial court's oral ruling, the trial court evaluated each factor enumerated in RCW 26.09.187 to help provide a backdrop. 01/12/16; VRP 248-252. The court found that all the factors weighed in favor of the father and opined that, "...if I was designing the parenting plan under .187, it would strongly favor the father under these circumstances in any event." 01/12/16 VRP 252.

The trial court went on to evaluate the cause under the modification statute, RCW 26.09.260. The trial court determined that the 2013 final parenting plan has agreed RCW 26.09.191 factors that were not appealed nor was the trial court asked to reconsider the factors. 01/12/16 VRP 253, CP 262. The court found that the RCW 26.09.191 subsections (1) through (3) were still appropriate given the evidence presented. 01/12/16 VRP 252, CP 275.

Using RCW 26.09.191 as a basis, the trial court determined that any contact between the mother and the children would "come completely out of context for these children at this point" and as such

denied Karen's petition for modification. 01/12/16 VRP 254, CP 263, 271.

Karen timely appealed to Division II. The Court of Appeals,
Division II issued its unpublished decision on April 17, 2018. *In re Marriage of Hardin*, No. 48987-2-II, (Wash. Ct. App. April 17, 2018).

Karen did not seek reconsideration of the Court's ruling nor did she seek publication.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals did not err by affirming the trial court's disposition of this case. The analysis of the trial court decision by Division II is exhaustive. It is amply supported by the trial record.

Karen's petition for review should be denied.

A. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court.

The decision rendered by Division II is not in conflict with any Supreme Court Decision. Although Karen references RAP 13.4(b)(1) she has not pointed to any such specific decision in her petition that is in direct conflict with this ruling, nor did she develop this argument. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

In the present case the parties stipulated to agreed RCW 26.09.191(1), (2), and (3) findings in the 2013 agreed final parenting plan.

CP 2. During the modification proceeding the trial court re-affirmed the findings and emphasized the appropriateness of a RCW 26.09.191(3) finding. 01/12/16 VRP 253, CP 275. RCW 26.09.191 specifically provides the trial court with authority to limit or preclude any portions of the parenting plan, including contact, if it is in the best interest of the children. In other words, under RCW 26.09.191 the evidence presented can rebut the presumption that a parent is fit to parent.

Furthermore, "While the court 'need not wait for actual harm to accrue before imposing restrictions," it may impose restrictions only where substantial evidence shows 'that a danger of ... damage exists." *In re Marriage of Burrill*, 113 Wn.App. 863, 872, 56 P.3d 993 (2002). *In re Marriage of Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d 632, 327 P.3d 644 (2014). In the present case Karen admits her actions have harmed the children and the continued danger of harm exists for the children. Karen failed to present any evidence to show that the danger no longer exists. In the present case Karen's contact with the children is inconsistent with the children's best interest and is properly limited.

Karen contends that the trial court failed to provide her a fair trial and improperly placed the burden of proof on her. Under RCW 26.09.260 the "moving party must prove that a modification is appropriate." *In re Custody of Halls*, 126 Wn. App. 599, 607, 109 P.3d 15 (2005). The Court

of Appeals did not err in determining that Karen has the burden of proof during a modification proceeding.

Karen further argues that the trial court erred by limiting the scope of inquiry. Karen relies heavily on *Rankin* to support her position. *In re Rankin*, 76 Wn.2d 533, 458 P.2d 176 (1969). Karen's reliance on this case is heavily misplaced. *Rankin* deals with a situation where a default judgment was entered against a party. Here, the parties stipulated in their 2013 final parenting plan that if the criminal no contact orders are lifted then review is limited to only the appropriate contact between Karen and the children.

B. The decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with any other division of the Court of Appeals.

The underlying decision of Division II is not in conflict with any other division of the Court of Appeals. Karen references RAP 13.4(b)(2) but has not specifically argued a decision she believes that this decision is in direct conflict with. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Her argument on this issue is vague and undeveloped.

Karen appears to argue that the use of GAL Kevetter as well as a denial of the trial continuance warrants review by this Court for being in conflict with prior cases. These arguments fail. The trial court appointed GAL Kevetter due to her familiarity with the case. The Court of Appeals

properly applied an abuse of discretion standard in reviewing the trial court's decision and determining that the trial court did not err in reappoint GAL Kevetter. See *State v. Sisouvanh*, 175 Win.2d 607, 621-22, 290 P.3d 942 (2012). Likewise, the trial court did not improperly deny Karen's motion for a continuance, as there were not "extraordinary circumstances" as to warrant the continuance. PCLR 40(g)(2). The trial court allowed Karen to have her expert testify by virtually any electronic means. Karen declined to have her expert testify nor did she attempt to offer any reports from her expert at time of trial. Neither of these determinations are in conflict with any known cases.

C. No questions of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States are involved.

No questions of law under the Constitutions of the State of Washington or of the United States are involved in this matter. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Karen argues that this case has constitutional implications but her argument is misplaced.

Karen appears to argue that the trial court limited her residential time solely based upon her status as a convicted criminal. This argument is not supported in the record. The trial court did limit her time based upon the harm that she did, and likely could continue to do, to her children using RCW 26.09.191. Karen does not appear to challenge the

constitutionality of RCW 26.09.191 or its ability to limit or preclude a parent's contact with a child.

Karen also argues that the trial court improperly delegated its authority to Todd. A court can delegate the interpretation of a parenting plan so long as the court retains the authority to review and enforce the parenting plan. *In re Parentage of Smith-Bartlett*, 95 Win.App. 633, 640, 976 P.2d 173 (1999). In the present case the court did not delegate Todd authority to modify the parenting plan but rather provides him with discretion as to how to initiate contact between Karen and the children. The court retains all jurisdiction to enforce or modify the parenting plan.

D. The petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Three factors are considered when determining whether an issue is one of "substantial public interest": "(1) whether the issue is of a public or private nature; (2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) whether the issue is likely to recur." *Philadelphia II v. Gregoire*, 128 Wn.2d 707, 712, 911 P.2d 389 (1996) (quoting *Hart v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs.*, 111 Wn.2d 445, 448, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988)).

This Court need not provide any authoritative guidance to public officers, namely superior court judges and court commissioners, beyond

that already provided in chapter 26.09 RCW and related statutes

themselves. Consideration by the Supreme Court is not warranted. RAP

13.4(b).

CONCLUSION

The opinion issued by Division Two in this case does not conflict

with any Supreme Court case, nor is it inconsistent with any decision of

any other division of our State Court of Appeals. Furthermore, Karen's

petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should

be determined by the Supreme Court.

This is a clear case of a trial court exercising appropriate discretion

in denying Karen's petition for modification of the 2013 final parenting

plan. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court. This Petition

for Review should be denied.